4-24-2009

# Wesco Autobody Supply, Inc. v. Ernest Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35732

## I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Nature of the Case.

On July 28, 2005, plaintiff/appellant Wesco Autobody Supply, Inc. (“Wesco”) purchased three autobody supply stores from Paint & Equipment Supply-Idaho, Inc. (“Paint & Equipment”) for approximately \$2.2 million. The stores were located in Idaho Falls, Pocatello, and Twin Falls, Idaho (the “Idaho Stores”). The purchase was of an ongoing business – locations, assets, customer files, goodwill, economic expectancy. About three weeks later, on August 19, 2005, substantially all of the Wesco employees who had worked at the Idaho Stores abruptly quit and reported for work at Wesco’s competitor – Paint & Spray Supply, Inc. (“P&S”) – at locations that did not exist the day before. P&S and Automotive Paint Warehouse (“APW”) are owned or controlled by individual defendants Holly Ernest (“Ernest”) and his partner, Tom Davis.

The mass defection was no coincidence. Ernest had long wanted to buy the Idaho Stores. Ernest had sold BASF paint products to the Idaho Stores through APW, but lost that business with Wesco’s purchase because Wesco would be supplied from its own warehouse. To avoid this loss, Ernest and Davis concocted a scheme with Brady Barkdull,<sup>1</sup> regional manager for the Idaho Stores (and by that time a Wesco employee), to open competing stores and to steal all of Wesco’s Idaho employees. Barkdull and Ernest then carried that scheme into action by successfully soliciting Wesco’s employees to abruptly leave for P&S – both directly and indirectly through other defecting Wesco Idaho managers.

Wesco brought this action against its former employees for breach of the duty of loyalty, tortious interference, and other theories, and named Ernest, Davis, P&S, and APW, alleging primarily claims for tortious interference.

---

<sup>1</sup> Defendants Brady Barkdull and Hugh Barkdull are brothers. References to “Barkdull” relate to Brady Barkdull; where a reference to Hugh is intended, appellant will specifically name him as “Hugh Barkdull.”

This matter is before this Court following certification under Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b) of an order granting partial summary judgment in favor of defendants.

**B. Course of Proceedings.**

Wesco filed its Verified Complaint below on September 8, 2005. R. Vol. I, pp. 8-23. It named as defendants all of the Wesco employees who left to join P&S and asserted ten theories of liability against them, including breach of contractual and other duties arising by virtue of their employment with Wesco, including the duty of loyalty, tortious interference with Wesco's contracts or expectancy, and the like. *Id.* Wesco also named Ernest, Davis, and two of their companies – P&S and APW– claiming that they had tortiously interfered with Wesco's contracts with its employees. *Id.*

On March 29, 2006, defendants moved for summary judgment as to all claims. R. Vol. I, pp. 46-48 (motion), 89-114 (memorandum). The motion was supported by declarations of Stephen Dunn, Curtis Stairs, Tiffany Thomsen, David Cristobal, Chatil Dobbs, Travis Dayley, Jeffrey Peck, Joel Johnston, Kelly McClure, Shelby Thompson, Jenny Hancock, Holly Ernest, Brady Barkdull, Hugh Barkdull, Michael Cook, and Jodee Reid. *Id.*, pp. 59-61 (Dunn), 62-64 (Stairs), 65-67 (Thomsen), 68-70 (Cristobal), 71-73 (Dobbs), 74-76 (Dayley), 77-79 (Peck), 80-82 (Johnston), 83-85 (McClure), 86-88 (Thompson), 115-17 (Hancock), 118-20 (Ernest), 121-23 (Barkdull), 124-26 (Hugh Barkdull), 127-29 (Cook), 130-32 (Reid).

Wesco opposed the motion on June 28, 2006. R. Vol. I, pp. 149-81 (memorandum). Its opposition was supported by declarations of Shauntell Bell, Wes Goodwin, and Jeffrey Brunson. R. Vol. II, pp. 182-306 (Bell), 307-407 (Goodwin); R. Vol. III, pp. 408-576 (Brunson); R. Vol. IV, pp. 635-700 (Brunson).

Defendants filed a reply on July 5, 2006. R. Vol. III, pp. 580-98 (reply memorandum), R. Vol. IV, pp. 616-34 (amended reply memorandum). The reply was supported by declarations by Barkdull and Kent Hawkins. R. Vol. III, pp. 57-79 (Barkdull), 599-615 (Hawkins).

The district court heard argument on July 10, 2006. R. Vol. IV, pp. 701-04.

By a memorandum decision filed September 7, 2006, the district court dismissed all claims against Ernest, Davis, P&S, and APW. R. Vol. IV, pp. 705-34. The court also dismissed most of Wesco's claims against its former employees. Specifically:

*Breach of Contract/Fiduciary Duties.* The district court recognized that all of the departed Wesco employees were employees "at will"; consequently, it dismissed Wesco's claims that those employees had breached their employment contracts by departing, working for a competitor, and using non-confidential information gained from their employment by Wesco. R. Vol. IV, pp. 713-15. However, the court recognized that these employees nonetheless owed fiduciary duties to Wesco, including a duty of disclosure and a duty of loyalty. *Id.* pp. 715-18. The court therefore denied summary judgment as to certain of the employees, finding genuine issues of fact as to whether Dayley, Johnston, Barkdull, Cook, and Hancock breached fiduciary duties owed to Wesco. *Id.* It dismissed claims against the remaining employee defendants. *Id.*

*Tortious Interference with Business Expectancy/Customers.* The defendants challenged Wesco's tortious interference with business expectancy claim based upon an alleged failure of Wesco to prove that the interference "was wrongful by some measure beyond the fact of the interference itself." *Id.* pp. 719. The district court denied summary judgment as to those defendants it found might have breached fiduciary duties owed to Wesco, but dismissed the claim as to all other defendants. *Id.* p. 720.

*Tortious Interference by Ernest, Davis, Automotive Paint, and P&S.* Wesco alleged that Ernest, Davis, APW, and P&S had tortiously interfered with the employment contracts between Wesco and its employees. *Id.* The district court dismissed the claim based solely upon the “at will” nature of the relationship. *Id.* pp. 721-22.

*Tortious Interference with Customer Contracts.* Finding that the contracts between Wesco and its customers were terminable at will, the district court dismissed this claim as to all defendants solely on that basis. *Id.* pp. 722-23.

*Unfair Competition.* The district court concluded that there were genuine issues of material fact that precluded summary judgment on Wesco’s unfair competition claim, although it dismissed the claim as to Ernest and APW. *Id.* pp. 723-24.

*Violation of Idaho Competition Act.* Focusing solely upon Ernest’s statements of intent and ignoring the obvious consequences of Ernest’s and P&S’s theft of all of the significant employees of Wesco’s Idaho Stores, the district court granted summary judgment as to all defendants. *Id.* pp. 724-27.

*Computer Fraud and Abuse Act.* Finding that there were genuine issues of fact as to defendant Cook’s actions in copying and deleting files, the district court denied summary judgment as to Cook, but dismissed all other defendants. *Id.* pp. 727-29.

*Idaho Trade Secrets Act (“ITSA”).* Wesco alleged that the defendants had misappropriated trade secrets in violation of the ITSA. *Id.* p. 729. The district court found that customer lists, lists showing customer buying preferences, the history of customer purchases, and custom paint formulas were trade secrets, but found a genuine issue of fact only as to defendant Mike Cook. The court therefore dismissed ITSA claims against all other defendants. *Id.* pp. 729-32.

*Conspiracy.* Stating that it found no “agreement” to accomplish an unlawful purpose or to use unlawful means to accomplish a lawful purpose, the district court dismissed Wesco’s conspiracy claim. *Id.* pp. 732-33.

Wesco twice moved for reconsideration; both motions were denied. R. Vol. IV, pp. 735-45 (first motion and memorandum), 768-75 (order denying first motion); Vol. V, pp. 817-44 (second motion and memorandum), 913-21 (order denying second motion).

On April 16, 2007, the Hon. Don L. Harding replaced the Hon. N. Randy Smith in these proceedings. R. Vol. V, p. 809.

As the parties prepared for trial, Wesco voluntarily dismissed its claims with prejudice against Jeffrey Peck, Travis Dayley, Joel Johnston, Chantil Dobbs, David Cristobal, Ryan Nesmith, Jodee Reid, Curtis Stairs, Tiffany Thomsen, Shelby Thompson, Jenny Hancock, and Kelly R. McClure. R. Vol. V, pp. 910-11.

Defendants filed a renewed motion for summary judgment to dismiss all remaining claims. R. Vol. VII, pp. 1220-21 (motion), 1274-95 (memorandum). The district court denied the motion. R. Vol. VIII, pp. 1442-47.

On September 10, 2008, the district court certified the September 7, 2006, order on summary judgment as “final” pursuant to Rule 54(b). R. Vol. VIII, p. 1279.

Wesco filed a timely notice of appeal on October 1, 2008, *Id.* pp. 1483-90, and an amended notice of appeal on October 15, 2008, *Id.*, pp. 1493-500. Defendants cross-appealed based upon the district court’s denial of portions of their motion for summary judgment. *Id.*, pp. 1501-04.

**C. Statement of Facts.**

***I. Parties.***

Wesco is and was in 2005 in the paint supply industry, with stores in Washington, Oregon, and Idaho. R. Vol. I, pp. 9 & 23, ¶¶ 1, 23; Vol. III, pp. 414-15 (7:8-11:9). Paint & Equipment was an Idaho corporation in the paint supply industry and owned the Idaho Stores. R. Vol. I, pp. 9, ¶ 24. On July 28, 2005, for approximately \$2.2 million, Wesco purchased the Idaho Stores, including all assets, goodwill, customer files, and economic expectation. R. Vol. I, p. 11, ¶ 28. Of this purchase price, \$996,000 was specifically allocated to the goodwill of Paint & Equipment. R. Vol. III, p. 576.

Defendants Holly Ernest and Tom Davis were at all relevant times the owners of P&S and APW. R. Vol. I, p. 9, ¶ 2; p. 137 ¶¶ 2-3. Prior to Wesco's acquisition of the Idaho Stores, Ernest and Davis had unsuccessfully attempted to acquire them. *Id.*, p. 11, ¶ 25; R. Vol. III, pp. 416-17 (14:19-17:19). Before the acquisition closed on July 28, 2005, neither Wesco nor Ernest/Davis had stores in Eastern Idaho. *Id.* Ernest and Davis boasted to Wesco Vice President Roger Howe that if they could not work out a deal to purchase the Idaho Stores from Paint & Equipment, they would take Paint & Equipment's employees. R. Vol. III, pp. 416-17 (15:14-17:19); *see also* R. Vol. III, p. 456 (16:3-12); *Id.*, p. 453 (58:4-14).

Until Wesco's acquisition of the Idaho Stores, defendants Travis Dayley, Joel Johnston, Chantil Dobbs, David Cristobal, Ryan Nesmith, Jodee Reid, Curtis Stairs, Tiffany Thomsen, Hugh Barkdull, Brady Barkdull, Michael Cook, Shelby Thompson, Jenny Hancock, and Kelly R. McClure (together "Employee Defendants") were employed by Paint & Equipment in the Idaho Stores. R. Vol. I, pp. 9-10, ¶¶ 4-18. Following Wesco's acquisition and until the close of business on August 19, 2005, the Employee Defendants were employed by Wesco. *Id.*, R. Vol. I, p. 12, ¶ 31.

At the time of Wesco's purchase of the Idaho Stores, Barkdull was Paint & Equipment's regional manager of the Idaho Stores and continued in that capacity as a Wesco employee at least until August 19, 2005, when he tendered his resignation. R. Vol. III, p. 478. Barkdull thus had supervisory responsibility over the Idaho Stores with the managers of those stores reporting to him. R. Vol. III, p. 468 (31:14-21). Barkdull's brother, defendant Hugh Barkdull, headed outside sales for the Idaho Stores at the time Wesco purchased the Idaho Stores. His job duties included making shop and sales calls to all of the body shops in the area. R. Vol. III, pp. 481-82 (10:23-14:10). Defendant Mike Cook was the manager of the Pocatello store at the time of the Wesco acquisition. R. Vol. III, p. 485 (10:8-11:3) and 490. Defendant Jenny Hancock was the manager of the Idaho Falls store at that time. R. Vol. III, 492 (5:17-7:9) and 498. Defendant Travis Dayley was the manager of the Twin Falls store at that time, R. Vol. IV, p. 669, and defendant Jeff Peck headed outside sales in the Twin Falls area, *Id.*, p. 698.

**2. *Brady Barkdull, Ernest, and Davis Conspire to Steal Wesco's Idaho Employees and Jointly Engage in Steps to Further the Conspiracy. Barkdull Lies to Wesco.***

As noted above, Wesco's purchase of the Idaho Stores closed on July 28, 2005. At that time, Barkdull and Ernest had had a commercial or professional relationship for at least the previous thirty years. R. Vol. III, p. 452 (42:4-18). Barkdull contacted Ernest the same day when he found that the Idaho Stores had been sold to Wesco. R. Vol. III, p. 471 (73:22-74:1).

On August 8 and 9, 2005, Barkdull traveled to Seattle for a Wesco marketing and sales orientation meeting. R. Vol. I, p. 12, ¶ 29; R. Vol. III, p. 469-70 (68:1-72:7). At that meeting, Barkdull learned that Wesco would not be using APW as its supplier for the Idaho Stores. R. Vol. III, p. 470 (72:4-7); *Id.*, p. 418 (25:19-26:10). Barkdull subsequently told Ernest and Davis of Wesco's decision not to use APW as its supplier. R. Vol. III, pp. 430-36 (13:23-19:10); *Id.*, pp. 457-59 (17:4-19:24).

Upon returning from Seattle, on August 10 or 11, 2005, Barkdull met with Ernest and Davis in Tremonton, Utah. R. Vol. III, pp. 430-36 (13:23-19:10); *Id.*, pp. 474-75 (87:17-89:12); *Id.*, pp. 457-59 (17:4-19:24). Ernest and Davis, on behalf of APW/P&S, offered Barkdull a job at this meeting and announced their intent to open three stores in Eastern Idaho – one in each city in which Wesco operated – to compete with Wesco. *Id.* Over the next few days, Ernest and Davis, on behalf of APW/P&S, formulated a plan to steal as many of Wesco’s employees in the Eastern Idaho market as possible and recruited Barkdull as an ally. R. Vol. III, pp. 460-62 (20:18-22:7).

While Barkdull was still a Wesco employee, Barkdull, Ernest, and Davis worked together to carry out their plan. Indeed, it seems that Barkdull was exclusively focused on setting up the new business, usually during business hours. Between August 10 and 19, 2005, Barkdull and Ernest spoke at least 64 times by cellphone. R. Vol. II, pp. 182-95. By comparison, during the same timeframe, Barkdull placed only two calls to his boss at Wesco, Roger Howe. *Id.* On August 13, 2005, Barkdull met with Ernest to scout out potential store sites for P&S/APW. R. Vol. III, pp. 437-42 (20:3-25:22). While still a Wesco employee, Barkdull called realtors, title companies, and planning and zoning authorities to locate store sites. R. Vol. II, p. 191; R. Vol. III, pp. 546-48. Barkdull admits calling High Desert Realty on August 17 and 19, 2005, to assist APW d/b/a P&S in locating retail locations in Pocatello, Twin Falls, and Idaho Falls. R. Vol. III, pp. 546-48. He also contacted planning and building departments in those locations to obtain a business license. *Id.*

Barkdull made it clear to Ernest that if he solicited Wesco employees he would work for Ernest, Davis, and APW/P&S. R. Vol. III, pp. 437-42 (20:3-25:22). In fact, Barkdull and Ernest delivered a letter to a Wesco customer prior to August 19, 2005, that identified Barkdull as an

employee of P&S; the letter was dated *August 16, 2005*, three days prior to the effective date of Barkdull's subsequent resignation. R. Vol. III, pp. 473 (81:22-82:17), 483, 531 (15:11-19:8), 535-36.

Shortly after scouting locations, Barkdull, Ernest, and Davis then began recruiting Wesco's employees. They started with the managers. On August 17, 2005, Ernest met with Mike Cook and offered him a job working for P&S in the same managerial capacity as he had with Wesco. R. Vol. III, p. 489 (50:23-52:21). On the same day, Barkdull and Ernest met with Jenny Hancock to offer her a job working for P&S in the same managerial capacity as she had with Wesco. R. Vol. III, p. 494 (23:5-25).

On August 17, 2005, Howe and Wesco employee Mark Mortensen met in Pocatello to discuss rumors that employees would be leaving *en masse* and starting work for a competitor. R. Vol. I, p. 12, ¶ 30; R. Vol. III, p. 419 (42:17-44:8). Barkdull, Hugh Barkdull, and Cook attended the meeting. *Id.* All three lied to Wesco (Howe and Mortensen) and assured them that there was no substance to the rumors. *Id.* Hugh Barkdull stated specifically that since he was 58 years old and his wife had multiple sclerosis, he was not going to attempt a new business. *Id.* Barkdull laughed and said "you've got to be kidding me at my age." *Id.* Cook agreed, stated that there was no way, and that "you're crazy." *Id.*

Immediately following this coverup meeting with Wesco, Ernest and Barkdull, with the assistance of other managers, recruited the balance of Wesco's employees to defect to APW/P&S. On August 18, 2005, Ernest met with Wesco Twin Falls store employees Travis Dayley, David Cristobal, Jeff Peck, and Joel Johnston. R. Vol. III, pp. 445-46 (34:3-35:5); *Id.* pp. 472-73 (80:10-81:21). The Twin Falls employees accepted jobs with P&S. *Id.* Barkdull

discussed with Peck and Dayley their resignations. R. Vol. III, p. 472 (78:7-80:24). Dayley told Barkdull he would join P&S. *Id.*

On the same day, Jenny Hancock recruited Shelby Thompson and Kelly McClure from Wesco's Idaho Falls store to work for P&S. R. Vol. III, p. 494 (22:14-23:25) ("I told [Ms. Thompson] I had made this decision to take this other opportunity and, if she wanted to, she would have a position with me."); *Id.*, p. 500 (6:17-7:12) ("[Ms. Hancock] said that she was leaving and that she wanted us to go with her." (McClure)); *Id.*, p. 503 (6:21-7:4) (Thompson). Joel Johnston recruited Chantil Dobbs from the Wesco Twin Falls store to work for P&S. R. Vol. IV, p. 644 (31:1-32:3) (Johnston); R. Vol. IV, p. 652 (11:7-24) (Johnston extended Dobbs a job offer on August 18, 2005) (Dobbs). The following day, August 19, 2005, prior to 5:00pm, Cook recruited Jodee Reid, Curtis Stairs, and Shelby Thomsen from the Wesco Pocatello store to work for P&S. R. Vol. III, pp. 505-06 (6:19-9:22); *Id.*, p. 508 (6:16-7:18); *Id.*, pp. 51-11 (7:19-9:8).

Barkdull instructed all employees to walk out on Friday, August 19, 2005, at 5:00pm. R. Vol. III, p. 497 (39:15-40:7).

3. *All of Wesco's Idaho Managers and Virtually All of Its Employees Resign En Masse on August 19, 2005.*

On August 19, 2005, just after 5:00pm, all of the managers, sales force, and every Wesco employee in the Idaho Stores (except for two lower tier employees in Idaho Falls) faxed to Wesco resignation letters effective immediately (except McClure's, which was effective August 23, 2005). R. Vol. I, p. 12, ¶ 31; R. Vol. III, pp. 478, 498, 483, 490, 501.

The resignation letters contain similar and, in most cases, identical language. R. Vol. I, p. 12, ¶ 32; R. Vol. III, pp. 478, 498, 483, 490, 501. The resignations were coordinated and planned in advance, including the language to be used. R. Vol. I, p. 12, ¶ 32; R. Vol. III, pp. 493-94 (20:5-21:3), 497 (39:15-40:7), 486-89 (18:7-21:8), 480 (8:3-21); 471-72 (75:20-78:6).

Hancock prepared the letter for the Idaho Falls employees and Hugh and Brady Barkdull had Cook prepare their letters in the Pocatello office. *Id.* Travis Dayley called Cook, who told him where to find a template for the resignation letter on the Internet. R. Vol. IV, p. 661 (33:1-16). Dayley provided the resignation letter to all of the Twin Falls employees. *Id.* (35:22-36:22) Johnston testified that the Twin Falls resignation letter came in on the fax machine and that he thought Cook had prepared it. *Id.*, p. 645 (35:6-21)

Former Wesco employees and managers Barkdull, Hugh Barkdull, Cook, Jodee Reid, and Curtis Stairs have a listed hire date with P&S of 7:00pm on August 19, 2005. R. Vol. III, p. 450. Former Wesco employee Tiffany Thomsen has a listed hire date with P&S of August 20, 2005. *Id.* Former Wesco employees and managers Travis Dayley, Jeff Peck, David Cristobal, Joel Johnston, Chantil Dobbs, and Kelly McClure all have a listed hire date of August 22, 2005. *Id.* Former Wesco employee Shelby Thompson has a listed hire date of August 29, 2005. *Id.*

Defendants opened stores in Pocatello, Twin Falls, and Idaho Falls, all within blocks of Wesco's Idaho Stores. R. Vol. I, p. 12, ¶ 35.

#### 4. *Additional Wrongful Acts by Ernest and Wesco's Idaho Employees.*

With their departure from Wesco, the employees stole Wesco proprietary customer information, computers, paint chip books, files, and rolodexes. R. Vol. I, p. 12, ¶ 33; R. Vol. III, pp. 513-18 (92:23-111:3), 422 67:6-14), 424-25 (94:1-100:3). Johnston admitted taking Wesco paint books with him. R. Vol. IV, pp. 647-48 (42:24-45:19) (Johnston); Johnston also admitted that he took business cards he had received from Wesco walk-in customers during his employment with Wesco. R. Vol. IV, p. 648 (46:1-20). In addition, Cook's Pocatello computer had many customer files that had been copied then deleted. R. Vol. II, pp. 309-11, ¶¶ 13-14, 20. Cook admitted that he deleted customer information on his office computer. R. Vol. III, pp. 487-88 (21:9-28:14).

Prior to resigning, the defendant employees faxed from the Idaho Stores information about their new businesses and their locations. R. Vol. III, pp. 426, 574-75. This information was faxed to Wesco's existing customers being served by the Idaho Stores. *Id.* One of the letters states:

[T]his was not a decision we took lightly. We ultimately felt that this was the only decision that was right if we were to keep giving you, our valued customers the level of service that they had come to expect from us ... . [A]ny of us can be contacted by our cell phones for any of your needs.”

R. Vol. III, p. 475 (emphasis in original). Ernest and Barkdull solicited work for P&S from Wes Harris of Harris Collision while Barkdull was still employed by Wesco. R. Vol. III, pp. 531-32 (15:11-19:8).

After leaving employment at Wesco, the defendant employees continued to use their Wesco cell phones and cell numbers and as late as August 25, 2005, some of the defendant employees' cell phones still gave an introduction with the Paint & Equipment name. R. Vol. I, p. 13, ¶ 38. They also continued to wear shirts saying “Paint & Equipment” at their new employment. *Id.*, ¶ 39.

## II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

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