UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-28-2009

Wesco Autobody Supply, Inc. v. Ernest Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35732

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

IV. Argument

A. Introduction

Wesco begins its argument at page 13 of Appellant's Brief by stating that "had the Wesco employees simply decided to quit of their own accord, Wesco would have no complaint." Wesco continues, "Had Ernest, Davis, and P&S directly recruited Wesco employees and persuaded them, through higher pay, promotions, or other inducements, to quit Wesco and become P&S employees, Wesco would have no Complaint." This is a fair assessment of the law. More importantly, it is also a fair assessment of the facts: (1) The employees did decide to quit of their own accord, each for his or her own reasons; and (2) Ernest and Davis, on behalf of P&S, did all of the recruiting of Wesco's key employees (managers and sales people) without any help from Barkdull. In deed, Ernest and Davis successfully recruited the key employees, not because of offering higher pay, or promotions, but because of having already having earned the key employee's trust through APW, especially when compared to the distrust created by Wesco in the three weeks the employees worked for Wesco. Respondent's Brief The main factual issue in the case is found within Wesco's next statement: "The central fact is that Barkdull, at the behest of Ernest, Davis, and P&S, solicited all of Wesco's Idaho managers and nearly its entire workforce to abruptly quit *en masse* and join P&S in direct competition with Wesco." This bold statement is exactly the required fact that is entirely absent from the record, and it is this absence that justifies this court granting full summary judgment against Wesco. There is no evidence whatsoever that Barkdull solicited even a single employee to quit and work for P&S. Rather, there is an abundance of positive evidence as to how each employee was recruited. There is no question that the recruitment of the managers and sales people was done entirely by Ernest and Davis on behalf of P&S and there is no serious legal dispute as to the right of Ernest, Davis, and P&S to recruit Wesco's employees.

B. General Statement of Facts

Ernest and Davis are the owners of Automotive Paint Warehouse ("APW"), which has wholesaled automotive paint and supplies to retail stores in Utah and Idaho for many years. Specifically, relevant to this case, APW was the primary wholesale supplier for three retail paint stores in Twin Falls, Pocatello, and Idaho Falls.

Wesco purchased the three stores from their prior owner and took control of the stores on July 28, 2005. The employees of the stores learned their stores had been purchased by Wesco when they received a fax from Wesco's headquarters on a Friday morning informing them that they now worked for Wesco. Some of them were ordered to report for duty on Saturday, the next day, for a mandatary all day inventory. R. Vol. IV, p. 602 (Johnston, 11:13).

Respondent's Brief

Wesco is a Washington corporation which owns not only retail stores, but also owns the wholesale supply line to those stores, throughout the Northwest. Wesco's expansion into the Idaho market was accomplished by buying out the three Eastern Idaho stores. Because Wesco's business model is to own both the wholesale and retail supply chain in any area where it competes, Wesco immediately began supplying its new Idaho stores out of Washington, terminating APW's sales to the three stores in Eastern Idaho and taking a serious bite out of APW's revenues and its market territory. R. Vol. III, p. 457 (Ernest, 17:4-15).

Rather than accept the loss of the Eastern Idaho market to Wesco, Ernest and Davis decided to use their existing Idaho corporation, Paint & Spray Supply (P&S), which had been operating retail stores in the Boise area for many years, to open new P&S stores in Twin Falls, Pocatello and Idaho Falls. Ernest and Davis knew the Eastern Idaho market well, and were acquainted with the employees of the three stores Wesco had just purchased. They also knew most of the owners of the autobody shops which are the customers of the stores. Because Ernest and Davis had a long term relationship with both the employees and the customers, they were willing to invest in the new stores, hoping to keep the Eastern Idaho market for APW, rather than see the market area go entirely to Wesco. They correctly perceived that Wesco, as the new comer in the area, may not be as well prepared as it needed to be, if it hoped to capture the Idaho market.

Ernest and Davis moved quickly, realizing that Wesco would only become more entrenched with the passage of time. They opened their new stores on August 22, only 3 weeks after Wesco's move into the area. Part of their strategy was to approach the key employees of Wesco's new stores and offer them jobs. Ernest and Davis met with each of the managers and salesmen on August 17 Respondent's Brief and 18 (Wednesday and Thursday) and offered them jobs to start immediately. Most of the employees resigned from Wesco on August 19 (Friday) and the new P&S stores opened for business on August 22 (Monday).

A key fact in this case is that it was not "over zealous recruiting" that motivated the employees to leave Wesco; rather, it was Wesco itself. It is well established that some of the employees were concerned about being bought by an out of state corporation. For instance, the Twin Falls employees had been notified of Wesco's purchase of the stores when they came to work one morning and found a fax informing them they had been bought. The fax informed them that they were to cancel their plans and show up for work on Saturday to perform an inventory. R. Vol. IV, p. 639 (Johnston, 11:11-12:13); R. Vol. IV, p. 605 (Peck, 21:2-22); R. Vol. VI, p. 615 (Cristobal, 20:12-17). Others were concerned about the treatment they were receiving from Wesco's managers. Several mentioned trouble getting through with phone calls to Wesco's main office and concern about communication with the new company. R. Vol. IV, p. 602 (Johnston, 12:6-25). Some employees were concerned about Wesco's ability to provide inventory for their customers on a timely basis and that Wesco's support was lacking compared to what they had been used to with APW. R. Vo. III, p. 597 (Hancock, 40:10-23). All of this caused the employees to fear for the stability of their careers. Some wondered if lay offs were eminent or if they would be fired to make room for out of state replacements. R. Vol. IV, p. 657, (Dayley, 19:21-26:22). Finally, Wesco required each employee to sign an "Acknowledgment" form which informed them that the were "atwill," meaning that "either party to the relationship can terminate the employment with or without notice with or without cause." R. Vol. III, p. 519. Many of the employees were nervous when they Respondent's Brief Page 11

learned that they could be fired at any time at Wesco's whim. When Wesco's tactics in taking over the Idaho stores is balanced against the stability promised by Ernest and Davis, it becomes clear that the employees were acting in their own self interest, not out of a malicious intent to put Wesco out of business.

The point is that the employees each made a personal decision to work where they felt most secure. This included a desire to work for Ernest and Davis, to be supplied by APW, and to be part of P&S' new stores. None of the employees expressed any hatred or serious resentment toward Wesco (until Wesco sued them.) R. Vol. IV, p. 682 (Peck, 68:24); p. 664-665 (Dayley, 46:10-47:5, 49:8-19); p. 613-614 (Cristobal, 12:18-15:7); p. 640 (Johnston, 14:1-15:18).

The employees were not offered exorbitant compensation packages. They were promised that their compensation would not decrease and that they would retain the same job title. It is true that Ernest realized his new stores would benefit from hiring the good people that he already knew and had been dealing with for up to twenty years. He set out to see if he could hire some of them and create a new opportunity that was better for himself and for them. To his surprise he ended up with almost all of the employees. The fact that most of the employees made a decision to work for P&S does not make their conduct illegal. These were at-will employees, they were not bound by any covenant not to compete, and they had the right to resign and go to work for P&S.

C. Response to Misstatements of the Record Made by Wesco.

It is much simpler when a motion for summary judgment is brought on a set of stipulated facts, with the court only needing to correctly apply the law to the undisputed facts. This is not such a case. Here it seems the parties generally agree on the law, but differ sharply on what facts are Respondent's Brief Page 12 supported by the record, and specifically on what reasonable inferences can be drawn from the evidence and testimony presented below. The respondents became concerned while reviewing Wesco's brief that some of the statements made in Wesco's brief are not supported by the record. Respondents are quite aware that Wesco, as the party opposing summary judgment, is entitled to every reasonable inference; however, those inferences must be based on the record. Following is a list of Wesco's factual claims which are not reasonably inferred from the record:

"Ernest and Davis boasted to Wesco Vice President Roger Howe that if they could not work out a deal to purchase the Idaho Stores from Paint & Equipment, they would take Paint & Equipment's employees." (Appellant's Brief, p. 6.) Reviewing the cited record makes it clear that Wesco's use of the word "boasted" is an inappropriate characterization. The quoted misstatement ignores the purpose of this meeting, which was Wesco coming to Ernest and Davis and offering to buy out APW and P&S from Ernest and Davis. The response from Ernest and Davis was that they were well established in Idaho and were well equipped to compete in Idaho because, through APW, they knew both the customers and existing employees better than an outsider, such as Wesco. This was proven to be more of a fair warning than a boast. Ernest's statements, however characterized, are irrelevant, of course, because there is no serious question that Ernest and Davis, on behalf of P&S, had the perfect right to compete for the customers and to attempt to recruit at-will employees from their competitors.

"At the time of Wesco's purchase of the Idaho Stores, Barkdull was Paint & Equipment's regional manager... Barkdull thus had supervisory responsibility over the Idaho Stores with the managers of those stores reporting to him." (Appellant's Brief, p. 7.) The record is clear that Mr. Respondent's Brief Page 13 Barkdull was not a "regional manager," he was "sales manager." R. Vol III, 578 (Affidavit of Barkdull, par. 2.); R. Vol. III, 468 (31:16). As sales manager he had no direct authority over the store managers or over the other employees; his responsibility was with sales. Likewise, the record does not support the misstatement that the managers of the stores reported to Barkdull. The misstatement illustrates Wesco's attempts to overstate Brady Barkdull's significance in the case, which is a key element of Wesco's appeal.

"Barkdull's brother, defendant Hugh Barkdull, headed outside sales for the Idaho Stores at the time Wesco purchased the Idaho Stores. His job duties included making shop and sales calls to all of the body shops in the area." (Appellant's Brief, p. 7.) At the relevant time in this case, Hugh was the outside salesmen for the Pocatello Store only, not for all of the stores. R. Vol. III, 481 (10:9, 20-22). The record cited is clear that Hugh Barkdull was an outside sales manager years earlier when he worked for Brady Industrial Supply, an unrelated company. Just as with Brady, Wesco is misrepresenting the record to make it appear that Hugh was more significant than he was.

"Over the next few days, Ernest and Davis, on behalf of APW/P&S, formulated a plan to steal as many of Wesco's employees in the Eastern Idaho market as possible and recruited Barkdull as an ally." (Appellant's Brief, p. 8. repeated at p. 29.) To support this statement Wesco cites to R. Vol. III, pp. 460-62, which is a portion of the Davis deposition. A review of that testimony reveals that there is no evidence there that Ernest and Davis "recruited Barkdull as an ally" and that the cited testimony does not support, or even give rise to an inference, that Barkdull was recruited to help "steal" the other employees. The cited portion of the deposition actually makes it clear that the opposite is true: Barkdull would not commit to Ernest/Davis and wanted to wait and see what Respondent's Brief Page 14 other employees would do. That is the only citation to the record Wesco uses to establish that Barkdull was sent to recruit other employees, and it fails entirely to support such an inference that would contradict the remainder of the record, which establishes that Ernest and Davis did not recruit Barkdull to help "steal" the other employees, nor did they ask for his assistance in starting up any new stores. R. Vol. III, p. 435 (18:5-15); R. Vol. III, 578 (Affidavit of Barkdull, par. 3-5).

"While Barkdull was still a Wesco employee, Barkdull, Ernest, and Davis worked together to carry out their plan." (Appellant's Brief, p. 8.) There is no citation for this statement, and the citation above it clearly does not establish that Barkdull was in on a plan to hire other employees. The plan was solely that of Ernest and Davis, and it is beyond dispute that the law allow Ernest and Davis to recruit Wesco's employees. The notion that Barkdull was the one doing the recruiting is purely a work of fiction written, and oft repeated, by Wesco's attorneys.

"On August 13, 2005, Barkdull met with Ernest to scout out potential store sites for P&S/APW." (Appellant's Brief, p. 8.) This statement is misleading. The record is clear that Ernest made a job offer to Barkdull while Barkdull was "riding along" with him. R. Vol. III, 439 (22:3-7) It is no secret that Ernest was attempting to recruit Barkdull. The testimony makes it clear that Ernest was talking to Barkdull while Ernest looked for store sites. The record is also clear that Ernest did not request that Barkdull assist him in recruiting other employees and that Barkdull "put the ball in [Ernest's] court to recruit other employees" before Barkdull would commit to the job offer. R. Vol. III, pp. 441-442 (24:21-25:18). As ruled by the lower court, even if Barkdull was helping to find stores for P&S, this should be of no concern as the law is clear that he could have

even been making preparations to open his own store; it should be considered even less of a problem if he was helping someone else prepare to compete. R. Vol. VIII, p. 1462-1463.

"In fact, Barkdull and Ernest delivered a letter to a Wesco customer prior to August 19, 2005, that identified Barkdull as an employee of P&S; the letter was dated August 16, 2005, three days prior to the effective date of Barkdull's subsequent resignation." (Appellant's Brief, p. 8-9.) This statement is a blatant misrepresentation of fact and of the record. It is a misstatement that Wesco has refused to let go of, even in the face of the lower court's finding that it was not supported by the evidence. The record cited by Wesco does not establish the date, but makes it clear instead that the witness, Harris, did not know what day he received the letter. R. Vol. III, p. 532 (17:1-3). Wesco also chooses to ignore evidence obtained after the summary judgment ruling, which now makes it even more clear and undisputed that this letter was not delivered until August 22, after Barkdull resigned. We now have the affidavit of Cory Hansen, the author of the letter, explaining the August 16 date on the letter, and making it clear that the letter was not delivered to anyone until after Brady had resigned from Wesco. R. Vol. V, pp. 903-904.

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